

Bullying at work guidelines

Contents

Introduction	4
What is workplace bullying?	4
Bullying or harassment - is there a difference?	4
Recognising bullying	5
Examples of bullying behaviour	5
The extent of bullying	7
The cost of bullying	9
Workplace bullying and the law	10
The role of risk assessment	11
Negotiating a policy on bullying	13
Procedure for complaints	14
Representing a bullied member and an alleged bully when both are UNISON members	14
Access to counselling	14
Monitor and review	14
Checklist for safety representatives	15
Safety representatives' rights	16
What branches can do	16
Appendix A	17
Further information	20

Introduction

UNISON believes that everyone should be treated with dignity and respect at work. Bullying is totally unacceptable behaviour as it denies staff this right. Bullying at work is a major workplace problem that makes the daily working lives of many workers intolerable. Workplace bullying can lead to ill-health and work-related stress, it affects morale and is the cause of untold misery to workers.

This is bad for the workforce and bad for the organisation, because workers affected by bullying may take long periods of sick leave or leave the organisation altogether. Workplace bullying can remain a hidden problem but may be accepted or encouraged by the culture of the organisation.

These guidelines outline what UNISON branches, stewards, and safety representatives can do to combat bullying. It can be used to offer advice and support to UNISON members who experience bullying in the workplace and will also help when developing or negotiating policies/agreements on bullying.

This guide does not include advice on bullying by clients or other members of the public as this is dealt with in our guidance on violence at work. Work-related violence – for example threats, verbal abuse, harassment or actual harm from clients, patients, members of the public etc – is a very real risk for many UNISON members.

Under health and safety legislation, employers have duties to assess risks to staff, including work-related violence, and to introduce policies and procedures to control any risks identified. Details of UNISON guidance on preventing/reducing violence at work can be found in the further information section.

What is workplace bullying?

There is no simple definition of bullying because it can take many different forms, occur in a variety of situations and crosses gender, race, age and involve one or a number of individuals. However, UNISON has defined workplace bullying as persistent offensive, intimidating, humiliating behaviour, which attempts to undermine an individual or group of employees.

Bullying is generally carried out face-to-face but can also occur in writing by telephone, text messaging, or by email.

Bullying or harassment – is there a difference?

There are clear similarities between the two types of behaviour as both bullying and harassment are linked to an abuse of power. However, it is useful to understand the difference between the two, particularly as there are greater legal remedies available to someone subjected to harassment.

Harassment can be defined as conduct which is unwanted and offensive and affects the dignity of an individual or group of individuals. Whether the harassment is intentional or not is irrelevant; the key is that the person being harassed sees the comments or actions as offensive, demeaning, disrespectful or unacceptable.

Harassment is caused by prejudice against specific members of society, as in racial and sexual harassment, or harassment on the grounds of sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, age, religion or nationality. Most forms of discrimination are outlawed by specific legislation, so it is important to recognise when bullying takes a discriminatory form.

UNISON has produced separate guidance on harassment at work. See the further information section for details.

Recognising bullying

Bullying can occur in a number of different ways. Some are obvious and easy to identify. Others are subtle and difficult to explain. Examples of bullying behaviour include:

- ignoring views and opinions
- withholding information which can affect a worker's performance
- setting unreasonable or impossible deadlines
- setting unmanageable workloads
- humiliating staff in front of others
- spreading malicious rumours
- intentionally blocking promotion or training opportunities
- ridiculing or demeaning someone by picking on them or setting them up to fail
- overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position
- deliberately undermining a competent worker with constant criticism.

Examples of bullying behaviour

There are many examples of bullying. The following are various types of bullying behaviour experienced by UNISON members:

Public verbal abuse

"I was blamed for my mistakes in front of the entire office. I was shouted at and told to do the work that should have been done and not to do it again. Everyone was listening as the manager shouted at me."

"Rubbishing your work, public humiliation through doing a job not to the required standard. Setting unrealistic targets, being made to feel 'unprofessional'."

Contract manipulation

"I was threatened with job loss because I wanted the bank holiday off with my family."

"I was harassed at home by phone by my ward manager when I was off sick. I was threatened about my job due to how much sick leave I'd had in the past six months. The sick leave was due to having to wait three weeks for a hospital admission."

"I needed time off with a viral infection. My manager told lies to other members of staff about why I was off work."

Undermining actions

"The manager totally undermined me in front of clients, giving them the impression I was not capable of helping them and advising them to come another day."

"Taking my clock card out of the rack and discussing my hours with general office staff. Not passing on messages; delaying paperwork so deadlines were missed."

"One slight error, the manager blows up as if you had done the whole page wrong. Will not listen to what you have to say; picks on different people at different times."

Cyberbullying

Technology has seen the development of new ways in which to bully, harass and abuse workers. Bullying by email, over the phone and by text message – with the use of digital cameras and camera phones – is on the increase. An independent online survey of over 1,000 workers carried out in 2007 found that a fifth of respondents had been bullied by email in their current or previous jobs, and 6.2% had been bullied via text message.

Cyberbullying is a particular concern within the education sector, where pupils have used mobile phones to take pictures and videos of staff at work. These images are then circulated to the phones of other pupils across the school or put on the internet. Emails are also used to abuse and harass staff. The development of social networks has made the problem worse as they can be used to actively encourage the abuse of school staff and many are used by pupils to further humiliate staff.

Publicly available, derogatory remarks can damage the career progression of staff and there is evidence that some employees have chosen to leave the service altogether to escape bullying and harassment.

Victims of cyber-bullying experience the same feelings of fear, intimidation, stress and low morale as those bullied face-to-face. A key difference is that by using information systems to cause harm, the victim has no control over who witnesses the abuse.

Cyber-bullying should be included in any prevention of bullying policy and procedures. It should be treated as any other form of bullying, requiring a risk assessment and appropriate control measures.

Under the Malicious Communications Act 1998 it is an offence to send an indecent, offensive or threatening letter, electronic communication or

other article to another person and under Section 43 of the Telecommunications Act 1984 it is a similar offence to send a telephone message that is indecent, offensive or threatening.

The Protection from Harassment Act 1977 also applies. Under this Act it is a criminal offence to make repeated threats of violence, whether intentionally or not. Such a case is brought by the police and if a person is convicted they could be sent to prison for up to six months and/or be given a fine not exceeding £5,000.

The extent of bullying

Bullying is a very real problem in the workplace, with research indicating that millions of workers are affected. Results from a UNISON survey on bullying and harassment which was carried out in 2009 by Portsmouth University supports this. The survey of over 7,000 UNISON members found that 2,466 people (34.5%) had been bullied in the last six months, while for 1,554 members (21.7%) this is ongoing. Of those that haven't been bullied in the last six months 32% say they have been bullied at some point in the past.

In relation to harassment, 765 (10.7%) of members said they had been harassed in the last six months at work and for 536 members this is ongoing.

Equality and bullying

Questions around the six equality strands of age, disability, gender, race, religious belief and sexual orientation were also included in the UNISON survey to help in identifying the extent of harassment and its causes. The results show that a large majority of the 765 respondents had been harassed across all spectrums of the equality strands. The table below sets out these results in more detail.

Grounds of harassment	Number of people harassed	Percentage
Age	302 Mostly older and younger – see below	4.2% of sample
Disability	114	1.6% of sample, 15% of disabled
Gender	42 men 126 women 168 overall	2.1% men, 2.5% women, 2.3% overall
Race	84 people	See breakdown below
Religion	34 people	1.2%
Sexuality gay lesbian, bisexual, heterosexual	31 of 143, 17 of 103, 8 of 101, 19 of 6,207	22%, 16% 8%, 0.3%

Statistics from our analysis of female workers in the 18-30 age range found that more than one in three young women are regularly being bullied at work. 33% have been bullied in the last six months and 66% say it is ongoing.

Of those that haven't been bullied in the last six months, a further 41% say they have been bullied at some point.

Ethnicity and bullying

Our results also reveal that Black women employees are twice as likely to be bullied as their white colleagues. For example, 52% of Black Caribbean, 56% of Black Africans, and 51% of UK-born Black employees reported being bullied compared to 33% of white employees. This increased to 67% when those in the category 'Black other' was included. Workers within other ethnic groups have also experienced high levels of bullying. Responses from ethnic groups are set out below.

	Number bullied in	% of
	last six months	group
Bangladeshi	8 of 13	61%
Chinese	5 of 10	50%
Indian	31 of 58	53%
Pakistani	17 of 32	53%
Asian UK	21 of 32	66%
Asian other	16 of 30	53%
Black African	19 of 30	56%
Black Caribbean	42 of 81	52%
Black UK	36 of 71	51%
Black other	14 of 21	67%
White UK	2,004 of 6,134	33%
Irish	65 of 149	42%
White other	188 of 466	39%

The results of the UNISON survey on bullying and harassment – Bullying at Work 12 years on! – can be found at unison.co.uk/safety

Surveys carried out by other organisations have also shown that bullying exists in many organisations. For example, results from the latest TUC safety representatives' survey found that one in three (33%) of safety representatives identified bullying as a problem in their workplace. And the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development has identified workplace bullying as a widespread problem. Their survey carried out in 2006 found that one fifth of all UK employees experienced

some form of bullying or harassment over the previous two years.

The results also show that the groups most likely to become victims of bullying and harassment are Black and Asian employees, women and disabled workers. Nearly one third (29%) of Asian and Black workers had experienced some form of work-related bullying or harassment, compared with 18% of white employees. Employees with disabilities were at least twice as likely to have experienced one or more forms of bullying and harassment (37%), compared with non-disabled employees (18%).

The extent of bullying can vary between different employers and sectors.

The health sector

In April 2009 the then chair of the Healthcare Commission warned of the corrosive nature of bullying among NHS staff and managers. He said: "One thing that worries me more than anything else in the NHS is bullying. We're talking about something that is permeating the delivery of care in the NHS." He also said that the problem was caused by the NHS hierarchical culture and occurred across all staff groups. These comments followed the results from a staff survey in which 8% of respondents said they had experienced bullying, harassment or abuse from a manager or team leader and 12% said they had experienced this behaviour from colleagues.

Higher education

Alarming levels of bullying and harassment also exist in the higher education (HE) sector. A UNISON survey of members working in HE revealed that around 20% of staff reported being subjected to violence at work, just under one third reported being harassed by other staff, and around a third of women respondents reported some form of sexual harassment.

As a result an Equality Challenge Unit has been funded by the HE Funding Council for a project to investigate both the causes of such behaviour and how to prevent it.

Case study

Sarah works as a management accountant in a large NHS trust in London. She had been there for two years before any bullying occurred but a change in her first line management changed that. Her supervisor targeted Sarah by making an issue out of every minor incident and being overly critical, Sarah believed that her new boss enjoyed having control and power over her. This included having to tell her when she was leaving the department on every occasion, including using the toilet. And when Sarah requested annual leave the manager made it difficult and would wait until the last minute to approve it, which meant that Sarah had to either pay more for her holidays or cancel them altogether. Sarah said "If I made an error, I was persecuted for it, I felt so helpless, as my every move was being watched and recorded."

Sarah's complaint to senior managers led nowhere as they expected staff to resolve such issues together and initially took no interest in the matter.

Following a formal complaint at director level, steps were taken to resolve the matter and mediation was used as the way forward. The hospital has since changed its bullying and harassment policy to include better ways of dealing with bullying.

The cost of bullying

The human, economic and social cost of bullying can be very high but the main cost of bullying is to the bullied individual themselves. Those who experience bullying can feel anxious, intimidated, threatened and humiliated. Bullying can cause feelings of frustration and anger and can lead to stress, loss of self-confidence and self esteem. Workers can also lose motivation affecting work performance and absence levels. In extreme circumstances bullying has led to self-harm and even suicide.

Bullying can also have a significant effect on the physical and mental health of the workforce as it can be a major cause of work-related stress. According to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) stress at work can be triggered or made worse where "there is prolonged conflict between individuals, including bullying and harassment or where staff are treated with contempt or indifference". Given that a third of all sickness absence relates to stress, this can have a staggering effect on an organisation. In addition to the effects on individual workers, bullying can affect both the performance and the morale of the workforce, including those who have witnessed bullying.

Other symptoms of bullying can include:

- headaches
- nausea
- ulcers
- contemplating suicide
- sleeplessness
- skin rashes
- irritable bowel syndrome
- high blood pressure
- tearfulness
- loss of self-confidence.

In addition, where employers base recruitment and promotion decisions on sickness absence levels, bullying and harassment can have a major impact on the career of individuals.

Failure to deal with bullying costs the employer in other ways as it can have an effect on the culture of the whole organisation. If it is not tackled then it will be seen by others to be acceptable behaviour. If cases result in an individual taking their employer to an employment tribunal, which comes to the attention of the media, it can have a very bad effect on the organisation's reputation.

Any employer who believes that the only way people will work is if they are afraid and anxious must be made to question how they value and use their human resources – which are their most important asset.

Workplace bullying and the law

Although there are no specific laws relating to bullying at work, legislation exists that can be used by employers to help them prevent or tackle the problem. This means that employers who fail to tackle bullying are breaking the law. Under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, all employers must provide a safe and healthy working environment, including protection from bullying and harassment at work. The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 require employers to assess the nature and scale of workplace risks to health and safety (this includes mental health), ensure that there are proper control measures in place to avoid these risks wherever possible and reduce them so far as is reasonably practicable where not.

The Health and Safety Executive's guidance on stress also makes it clear that "there should be systems in place to deal with interpersonal conflict such as bullying or harassment".

Where bullying or harassment is motivated by the workers' race, gender, sexual orientation, disability, age, religion or belief a claim can be bought under equality legislation aimed at protecting individuals from such treatment. Claims can be made to an employment tribunal.

The Employment Rights Act 1996 also allows employees to claim unfair dismissal if they are forced to leave their job because of actions by their employer or a failure to deal with any complaints. Such actions can include failure by the employer to protect their employees from bullying and harassing behaviour or failure to deal with any complaints of bullying or harassment.

There is also scope to take action through legislation that falls outside the workplace. For example, under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 it is an offence to cause a person harassment, alarm, or distress, use threatening, abusive or insulting behaviour either verbally or in writing.

Case study

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997

The Protection from Harassment Act was introduced to combat the problems of stalking. It had not been considered that it would provide a remedy for bullying in the workplace until the case of Mairowski, below.

Majrowski v Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Trust 2005

Mr Majrowski worked for the Guy's and St Thomas' Hospital Trust as a clinical co-ordinator. He made a formal complaint of harassment against his manager Mrs Freeman in April 1998. He alleged that she had bullied and intimidated him. He stated that she was rude and abusive to him in front of other staff. She criticised him continually and imposed unrealistic performance targets on him. She then threatened him with disciplinary action if he failed to meet them. He alleged the treatment was "fuelled by homophobia" as he was gay. The complaint was upheld by the trust and they found harassment had occurred in 1999. Mr Majrowski was dismissed by the trust for an unconnected incident. Nearly four years later he claimed damages under section 3 of the Protection from Harassment Act for distress and anxiety caused while he was employed by the trust. Initially the case was struck out by Judge Collins at the Central London County Court. He stated that the 1997 Act did not create a level of liability in employment law and that employees were already adequately protected by the common law.

Mr Majrowski appealed to the Court of Appeal. On 16 March 2005 the Court of Appeal allowed the appeal, stating that the Protection from Harassment Act could cover the situation where an employee was bullied during the course of his employment. The defendants appealed to the House of Lords. The question raised was whether an employer is legally responsible (ie vicariously liable) for harassment committed by an employee in the course of his/her employment.

On 12 July 2006 the House of Lords upheld the decision of the Court of Appeal

The role of risk assessment

Challenging bullying at work can be especially difficult in workplaces, particularly where it is accepted as part of the culture. However, in any workplace, it is important that bullying is raised and tackled at the earliest possible opportunity. Leaving it to go on means more stress and suffering for the person being bullied and colleagues who have witnessed it. It also makes it harder for the problem to be sorted out and is not the traditional risk assessment approach to dealing with hazards.

People who are being bullied are often wrongly made to feel that they should put up with the pressures they are under. Victims do not speak out about bullying because they fear that the bullying will only get worse if they do, or that they will not

be believed, which will ensure it gets worse.

The only way to stop this is to ensure that bullying does not become the accepted culture and that managerial practices are controlled within reasonable limits. That is the role of risk assessment.

In most cases bullying at work is tackled by focussing on the problem once it has occurred. This means that people are hurt before something is done. Like any workplace hazard, the basis for any action to tackle bullying should be risk assessment. The aim of risk assessments is to prevent harm occurring in the first place. The Health and Safety Executive's Five Steps to Risk Assessment approach and how it applies to bullying was developed by the Hazards Campaign and is set out below

Step 1 - identify the hazard

A hazard is something that may cause harm, such as bullying. Bullying behaviour can take many forms including persistent, offensive, intimidating, or humiliating behaviour that may undermine an individual or group of employees and may cause them to suffer stress or other harm. Workplace policies must include a definition and list examples of behaviour that is deemed unacceptable.

Step 2 - decide who might be harmed and how

Those who are the target of a bully are clearly at risk, but so are those who witness the bullying behaviour. Results from the 2009 UNISON survey on bullying and harassment reveal that nearly 50% of those who had witnessed bullying became worried that they would also become a target for the bully and over 20% had decided to change jobs for this reason. There may also be particularly vulnerable groups at risk from bullying and harassment such as young workers, those on work experience, or those with mental health conditions. All of them may suffer fear, anger, stress, anxiety, and/or depression. Patients and clients may also witness the bullying and other forms of harm may be suffered. Some victims of bullying have committed suicide.

Step 3 - estimate the chance of harm and identify ways to avoid or reduce that risk

To work out the chance of harm, employers need to think about how likely it is that those at risk will suffer harm and how serious that harm may be. This helps to set priorities. Clearly, the longer any bullying goes on, the greater the risk of harm. In addition, vulnerable individuals may be less able to

cope and may therefore suffer more serious harm

The second part of this step is to think about what measures can be put in place to avoid or reduce the risks. As already mentioned, most guidance on bullying looks at controlling the problem once it has occurred, when the approach should be about putting measures in place to prevent it happening or reducing its consequence before it occurs.

So what measures could be taken? These might include: information and/or training for all staff on the issue of bullying and what is and isn't acceptable behaviour; promoting a workplace culture which does not unnecessarily punish individuals if something goes wrong, but instead uses the event as a learning experience for both them and the organisation – together with a policy, systems and procedures which promote positive behaviour and tackle negative behaviour at its outset.

Step 4 - record and apply the findings

The employer should record that the assessment has been done, and include the important findings and details of any groups particularly at risk. Any steps identified to prevent or reduce the risk of bullying must now be applied.

Step 5 - review the assessment and update it as necessary

Do the measures taken appear to be working? Has something happened or has there been some change which means a review is necessary. How do staff feel? Maybe they could be surveyed. Alternatively have there been any complaints of bullying behaviour? If so then the measures of prevention and control will need to be reviewed.

Negotiating a policy on bullying

The first priority in dealing with bullying is to eliminate it from the workplace. But dealing solely with the consequences of bullying is not a solution because it wrongly focuses attention on individuals rather than concentrating on the culture that has allowed the bullying to occur in the first place. To overcome this a joint policy on bullying should be agreed. The policy should form an essential part of any approach to managing bullying at work and will demonstrate to all staff that the issue is being taken seriously. Procedures for dealing with complaints should be included.

It is important that the policy's focus is on bullying behaviour rather than on bullies. This approach recognises that not all people who bully are bad, or do so knowingly. It avoids labelling people as bullies, which can lead to conflict, especially if the perpetrator is not being dismissed. To deal with bullying as an organisational issue it is important for the policy to focus attention on preventing the unwanted behaviour in general. If the policy just concentrates on individual acts of bullying by named individuals, the underlying cause – a management culture of bullying – will not be tackled.

The policy should include the following elements:

1. A statement of commitment

It should demonstrate a clear commitment on the part of the employer to tackle bullying. It should make clear that bullying will not be tolerated and complaints will be taken seriously. It should spell out the rights of all staff to be treated with dignity and respect at work.

2. A definition

A definition is needed with examples of the types of behaviour that are considered unacceptable so that staff are clear on what will not be tolerated.

3. Prevention measures

The policy should outline the steps that employers will take to prevent workplace bullying. It should include the steps taken to reduce factors that

contribute to bullying, such as bad management practices or styles and organisational cultures.

4. Duties of managers and supervisors

The policy should be clear on the duties of managers and supervisors and their responsibilities for preventing or eliminating bullying.

5. Trade union involvement

The role of safety representatives should be made clear in the policy. They have a dual role, which includes educating members about bullying as well as receiving complaints. Giving them equal status to managers will promote partnership working and build confidence among staff.

6. Contact officers

Some employees may find it difficult to raise concerns about bullying with their manager. This may be because the manager is the one doing the bullying or because the feelings they experience make it hard for them to speak out to anyone. For this reason, the policy should include details of an independent contact officer to provide help and support for those being bullied.

7. Information and training

Once agreed, the policy should be widely publicised to all new and existing staff. It should also be brought to the attention of outside contractors, agency staff, patients, clients, visitors and so on. Outside contractors should also comply with the policy and its requirements. A statement of the policy should be included in all contract specifications.

Information about the policy and the types of behaviour that will not be tolerated should be included in health and safety training and in staff inductions etc. It is especially important that managers are included in any training provided. This is because in many cases it is the manager or supervisor who is the bully. They should be made aware of what constitutes bullying, what the policy is, and what their responsibilities are in preventing or eliminating bullying at work.

Because of the safety representative's involvement in representing both the bullied and the bully they should be given equal training as well as time off to carry out this duty.

The following should be included in any training programme on bullying:

- details of the policy and its implementation
- the meaning of bullying, its causes and effects
- the reporting procedures
- how and where to get support
- the assistance available to those being bullied.

Procedure for complaints

A procedure for complaints relating to bullying should be developed. This should ideally be separate from the usual grievance procedure. If this is not possible then the normal grievance procedure can be used. However, the usual grievance procedure will not always be sufficient, as the facts of the case need to be established in a sensitive way. In addition, the bullying may be by the member's line manager, who is normally the person a problem is raised with in the first instance in a grievance procedure.

Whatever procedure is used, it should give the bully the opportunity to change their behaviour, as some people are unaware that their behaviour in some circumstances is bullying. If it is clearly pointed out to them that their behaviour is unacceptable, the problem can sometimes be resolved. Where this is not possible more formal measures may be needed. The policy should therefore include an informal and formal procedure for dealing with bullying complaints.

Representing a bullied member and an alleged bully when both are UNISON members

All members are entitled to representation to ensure that disciplinary procedures are conducted fairly. If the person being bullied and the alleged bully are members of the same branch they cannot both be represented by the same person. Branches should develop an appropriate system of representation for these types of bullying cases and can seek advice from their regional office.

Access to counselling

Bullying can affect a person's mental and physical well-being. Counselling may help workers cope better with the stress of being bullied. Access to an independent, professional counselling service provided by trained counsellors should be available. This service should be strictly confidential. The availability of counselling and the procedures for referrals should be included in the policy and publicised.

Staff under stress from being bullied should be encouraged to seek support. It should be made clear that this is not seen as a fault or weakness on the part of the individual being bullied. Counselling should also be offered to those carrying out the bullying. This is particularly useful if they do not understand why their behaviour has been found unacceptable.

Monitor and review

In common with all health and safety policies, the policy should be monitored and reviewed regularly to ensure that it is achieving its objectives and remains effective.

A copy of this policy can also be found at unison. org.uk/safety

The joint AoC and union working party which includes UNISON has produced a National

Guidance agreement on Harassment and Bullying in Employment in Further Education Colleges. A copy of this joint agreement can be found at unison.org.uk/education/further/pages_view.asp?did=7443

Checklist for safety representatives

D	4 I	policy	:1	
11000	ILIO	ראי אווריאר	ווי זר זו	IICIO.

- a commitment from senior management?
- acceptance that bullying is an organisational issue?
- a statement that bullying is unacceptable and will not be tolerated?
- clear definitions of unacceptable behaviour?
- a statement that bullying may be treated as a disciplinary offence?
- steps to assess and prevent bullying?
- duties of heads of departments and supervisors?
- confidentiality for complainants when they report bullying?
- procedures to protect complainants from victimisation?
- procedures for investigating complaints?
- informal complaints procedure?

- formal complaints procedure?
- information and training about bullying and the policy?
- access to support and independent counselling?
- procedures for regular reviewing and monitoring the policy?

And:

- is it jointly agreed by the employer and trade union?
- does it cover everyone, including contractors?
- is it implemented?
- is it widely publicised?
- is training provided for all staff including managers and supervisors?
- are details of the policy included in induction health and safety training courses?

Safety representatives' rights

The Safety Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977 give safety representatives strong legal rights. Where the health and safety of employees is concerned safety reps have the right to:

- consult with members eg meetings and surveys on bullying
- carry out inspections eg in search of the problems identified as causes of bullying
- information from employers of relevance here are the results of anonymous bullying surveys, consultants' reports, sickness absence data, and risk assessment results
- consultation with management in good time (ie well in advance of changes taking place) on work equipment, the workplace, job content, hours of work, and any proposed changes to these
- the planning and introduction of new technologies including new equipment, new computer software, and the need for subsequent training
- the appointment of competent persons, including internal and external professionals including independent counsellors. Those responsible for carrying out risk assessments on bullying will need extra training and the provision of adequate time, resources, and authority to take decisions
- health and safety training for members including the management of bullying
- health and safety information: literature, leaflets, and posters on bullying for example, which the employer wishes to use.

There are also rights to access facilities (a private room to talk to members and the use of internal mail systems to circulate a survey for instance) assistance, paid time off to carry out safety representatives' functions (meetings with other safety representatives or members for example) and to attend UNISON or TUC training.

More detailed guidance on the rights and role of safety representatives is available in UNISON's Guide for Safety Reps.

What branches can do

- Raise awareness of bullying in general. This helps members who are being bullied to recognise the fact. Also, some people who bully may not be aware of the impact of their behaviour and will change in response to a general campaign.
- Conduct a survey of the extent of bullying experienced by members. This is one of the best ways of identifying the scale and extent of the problem. A draft survey can be found at the end of this guide.
- Encourage members to come forward and report cases of bullying and organise meetings so that members can talk together about bullying.
- Persuade safety representatives and stewards to respond positively to members' concerns and encourage safety reps and stewards to attend training sessions on bullying.
- Negotiate a policy on bullying and harassment with employers.
- Encourage members to keep written records of all bullying incidences and inform employers in writing that incidents are occurring. This must be done in a general way if a member has raised the issue with the union in confidence.
- Circulate UNISON material on bullying to members and non-members as this will help to raise bullying as a workplace health and safety issue and can help to recruit and retain members. Also include articles on bullying in branch magazines and newsletters.

Appendix A

Branches can use the following survey to gather evidence on the scale and extent of bullying in the workplace.

Draft branch bullying survey

Bullying at work is persistent offensive, intimidating, humiliating behaviour, which attempts to undermine an individual or group of employees. It can take many forms, including shouting at or humiliating an individual, especially in front of colleagues; picking on an individual; undermining someone's ability to do their job; abusive or threatening behaviour which creates a stressful or intimidating atmosphere. Such bullying behaviour is an abuse of power and a denial of our right

to be treated with dignity and respect. Bullying causes stress. It damages the health and safety of staff and adversely affects the quality of service provided.

UNISON is concerned about the amount of bullying that goes on at work.

In order to convince management that bullying of staff is a serious problem and that changes are needed to eliminate bullying, your UNISON branch is conducting this survey.

We need your views and experiences on any bullying you face at work. Please help us to help you by answering the following questions. Your replies will be treated as confidential (you will notice that you have not been asked to provide your name).

Where do you work?			
What is your job? (Give a description if your job title would identify you)			
Are you:	□Male	☐ Female	
Is bullying at work: A very serious problem? A minor problem?	(Tick relevant box) ☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ Yes ☐ No	A serious problem? A non-existent problem?	☐Yes ☐No ?☐Yes ☐No
Have you ever been bullied at this place	e of work?	□Yes	□No
Are you currently being bullied?	□Yes □No		
If yes, when did the bullying start?			
What are the main sources of bullying?			
From your line managers			
From senior managers			
From colleagues			
From the public (clients, patients, customers and so on)			

From visitors	
From contractors' staff	
Other (please state)	
What form does the bullying take? (tick Shouting Threats Abuse Intimidation Humiliation Excessive criticism Setting unrealistic targets or deadlines Altering targets, deadlines and so on Excessive work monitoring Keeping you out of things Victimising you Malicious lies or rumours Refusing reasonable requests, such as for leave Other (please state)	relevant box)
How often does the bullying happen? (t Daily Weekly Monthly Have you or other staff in your area every Have any staff left their job because of bullying happen? (t	Less than monthly ☐ If had time off work because of bullying? Yes ☐ No ☐
If yes, how many?	
What do you think causes bullying? (tick Stressed managers	
Other reasons (please state what they are)	

What measures would you like to see to reduce bullying?			
Do you have access to a counselling service? Yes ☐ No ☐			
If yes, how effective is it? (tick relevant box)			
Very effective ☐ Useless ☐			
Any other comments?			
Thank you for completing this questionnaire. Please return it to the person who gave you this survey.			

Further information

UNISON has produced a number of publications that may be useful to branches or safety representatives who are dealing with workplace bullying. They can be ordered using the online catalogue, or by emailing stockorders@unison.co.uk

Risk Assessment: a guide for UNISON safety representatives.
Stock number 1351.
unison.org.uk/acrobat/11190.pdf

The health and safety six pack: A guide to the six pack set of regulations.

Stock number 1660.

unison.org.uk/acrobat/10349.pdf

Safety representatives and safety committees. Stock number 1819. unison.org.uk/acrobat/11191.pdf

Working together on health & safety: A UNISON guide to partnership agreements.

Stock number 1890.
unison.org.uk/acrobat/11722.pdf

Harassment at Work – negotiating guidelines for safety representatives and stewards Stock number 1359

Stress at Work – a guide for safety reps. Stock number 1725

Stressed out by Work? – a leaflet for members and potential members. Stock number 0848

Respect: a health guide
Guidance for young workers on bullying and
harassment at work. Stock number 2530.
unison.org.uk/acrobat/B2738.pdf

UNISON's health and safety representatives guide. Stock number 1684.

Violence at Work – Guidelines for safety representatives and stewards. Stock number 1346.

Additional health and safety information and guidance can be found on the UNISON website at unison.org.uk/safety

Further related information can be found on the following web pages:

The Members Participation Unit (MPU) actively campaigns for equality in the workplace and in the wider world and provides guidance and information for UNISON branches on a wide range of equality issues. These can be found at unison.org.uk/equality

UNISON's bargaining support group provides fact sheets and bargaining guides on a wide range of employment issues. Details of agreements are also collected and held in the Bargaining Information System. All bargaining support material can be found on the bargaining zone: unison.org.uk/bargaining

Health and Safety Executive

Further health and safety information, publications and advice can be found on the HSE website: hse.gov.uk/stress

Advice

If you have any specific health and safety queries, your branch health and safety officer or branch secretary may be able to help you. If they are unable to answer the query, they may pass the request to the regional office or to the health and safety unit at national office.

UNISON's Health and Safety Unit is at: 1 Mabledon Place, London WC1H 9AJ, Tel: 020 7551 1156 Fax: 020 7551 1766 email: healthandsafety@unison.co.uk

Your comments

UNISON welcomes comments on this booklet from branch safety officers and safety reps. Either write or email to the health and safety unit at the address above.

Bullying at work guidelines		



Join online today at unison.org.uk/join or call 0845 355 0845

